THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Presiding Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 21 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Trial Court Case No. 2014CP4601548  
Appellate Court Case No.: 2014-002312

THE STATE

Respondent,

v.

Richard Alan Wells,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Paul L. Reeves, S.C. Bar No. 4671  
REEVES LAW FIRM, LLC  
1527 Blanding Street  
Post Office Box 11126  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 929-0001  
(803) 929.0927 Facsimile  
Paul@PLRLawFirm.com

Attorney for Appellant

##

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Magistrate Judge and the Circuit Court err in failing to dismiss the driving under the influence charge where the arresting officer failed to video record the Defendant Driver's conduct at the incident site as required by S.C. Code §56-5-2953?

A. Did the Magistrate and Circuit Court err in finding that Section 56-5-2953 only requires the arresting officer to video record the driver's conduct during the field sobriety tests and the arrest and Miranda warnings?

B. Did the Magistrate err in failing to consider that the conduct omitted from the video recording included the Driver exiting his car and walking to the roadway?

II. Did the Magistrate and Circuit Court err in failing to properly consider the arresting officer's undisputed testimony regarding his training which included that he is trained to look for important "cues" in the driver's conduct during while exiting his vehicle as evidence of sobriety?

III. Did the Magistrate Judge and Circuit Court err in failing to dismiss the driving under the influence charge, as a matter of due process, where potentially exculpatory evidence of the Driver's conduct was not video recorded because the arresting officer consciously moved his patrol vehicle?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Richard Wells was charged with driving under the influence (first) in violation of §56-5-2933, on October 5, 2013 by York County Sheriff's Deputy Jonathan Deputy. [R.p. 8; Ticket.]<sup>1</sup> Wells timely requested a jury trial, which was conducted by the York County Magistrate on April 4, 2014.

Prior to the beginning of the trial, Wells moved to dismiss the charge on the ground that the arresting officer failed to fully comply with the video recording requirements in S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-2953. [R.p. 9; Motion.] The motion to dismiss was based upon the State's failure to record relevant, material conduct of Wells' sobriety at the incident site. The Court heard argument, outside the presence of the jury, from Wells and the State, reviewed Wells' written motion and the applicable case law. The Court denied Wells motion and ordered the matter to proceed before the jury.

During the Motions hearing, the arresting officer testified that his training required him to assess sobriety from the very first contact with a suspect by viewing him face to face and observing the suspect exit from the vehicle, stand up and then walk. The arresting officer admitted that these cues of sobriety were conduct and this conduct was not recorded. After the arresting officer had testified, at the end of the State's case, Wells' renewed his motion as a motion for a directed verdict on the ground that the State did not comply with §56-5-2953, as there were no exigent circumstances and the video camera was working at the time of the arrest. The Court denied the motion again. The jury convicted Wells of driving under the influence. [R.p. 204]

---

<sup>1</sup> He was also charged with open container violation, which he did not contest.

Wells timely appealed the conviction to the Circuit Court. [R.p. 209; Notice of Appeal, filed May 9, 2014.] The Magistrate filed a Return, and the appeal to the circuit court was heard by the Honorable John Hayes on September 3, 2014. [R.p. 224; Return, filed July 24, 2014.] The grounds for Wells' appeal to the circuit court were set forth in the written memorandum submitted to the Circuit Court. [R.p. 215; Memorandum, dated May 8, 2014.] The Circuit Court affirmed the magistrate's decision by Order, dated September 12, 2014 [R.p. 1.] This appeal followed when Wells served and filed his Notice of Appeal on October 9, 2014. [R.p. 239.]

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Richard Wells was arrested by York County Sheriff's Deputy Jonathan Osborne on October 5, 2013 in York County, South Carolina. The Deputy testified that he was a seasoned deputy trained and certified as an instructor in DUI detection, standardized field sobriety and certified by NHTSA. [R.p. 78; Tr. p.62:1-15.] The Deputy testified that his patrol vehicle was equipped with a video recorder that was in proper working order at the time of Wells' arrest and the video "fairly and accurately" reflected Wells condition at the time of his arrest. [R.p. 80, 81; Tr.p.64:1-14, Tr. p. 65:1-5.]

The Deputy testified that he stopped Wells by initiating his blue lights based upon his observations that Wells failed to maintain his lane of travel. [R.p. 79; Tr. p. 63:20-22.]. The video shows that when the Deputy initiated his blue lights, Wells pulled off the roadway into a parking lot. The Deputy positioned his car where you could see Wells' vehicle. The Deputy approached Wells' car initially, gets ID information, license, insurance, talks to him for just a minute, does a cursory inspection of his truck bed and then goes back to his patrol car. At that point, the Deputy consciously and purposefully

chose to move his patrol car up into the travel portion of the highway and park it there, leaving Wells off camera for four and a half minutes, although the audio portion continued to record. During part of those 4.5 minutes that was not visually recorded, Wells was sitting in his car while the Deputy was sitting in his patrol car running the driver's license and tag information. The Deputy got out of his patrol car and approached Wells and directed him to get out of the car. Wells exited his car and walked to the traveled portion of the road as directed by the Deputy. At that point, they are in the range of the video recording when the Deputy performed the field sobriety tests. [See R.p. 20 - 22, 28; 9/3/14 Hearing Tr. p. 4-6, 12; Incident scene video.].

The video does not record the critical sequence of Wells exiting the vehicle, standing upon exiting the vehicle, and walking about thirty feet to the traveled portion of the highway to a point in front of the patrol vehicle, where the video began recording Wells for the first time in almost five minutes. Once they were in the visual video range of the patrol vehicle's camera, the Deputy began to administer certain field sobriety tests: the horizontal gaze nystagmus test, the walk and turn test, and the one leg stand test. The Deputy testified he saw signs of impairment during his observations of Wells conduct during these tests, and placed him under arrest for driving under the influence.

The Deputy testified that he is trained, from the onset of contact with a suspect's vehicle, to look for "cues" from the driver that demonstrate sobriety or the lack thereof. [R.p. 41 - 42; Tr. p. 25:22-p.26:1.] The Deputy testified that based upon his training, the first phase of investigation is his observations of the driving conduct. [R.p. 41; Tr. p.25:7-12.] He is looking for cues of impairment to decide whether to stop the driver. The second phase of his initial investigation is to observe the conduct of and interview

the driver face-to-face to determine sobriety. The Deputy admitted that during the second stage, his training requires him to "observe the driver's exit and walk from the vehicle..." in order to assess sobriety. [R.p. 41; Tr. p.25:18-21.] At that point, he then must decide whether to have the driver submit to further investigation by administering field sobriety tests, which is the third stage of his investigation. [R.p. 41; Tr. p.25:13-17.]

The Deputy testified that that all these cues of sobriety are important aspects of the driver's conduct which he is to consider as he goes through the three phases of investigation and assessment of whether the driver is under the influence. [R.p. 42; Tr. p. 26:2-6.] The Deputy admitted that he did not record the important, relevant cues of sobriety of Wells as he exited his vehicle:

Q: Would you agree with me that cues where there's an indication of sobriety or a lack thereof are missing from the videotape?

A: I'm not sure. Can you rephrase that question?

Q: I will. I will. You agreed with me a while ago that the officer should come face to face, observe him exiting the vehicle and walking from the vehicle, do you agree with that?

A: Yes, sir,

Q: Those are important cues in the determination of sobriety?

A: Could be, yes sir.

Q: All right. Would you agree that those important cues in the determination of sobriety regarding the actions and demeanor of Mr. Wells were not recorded?

A: I agree with that.

[R.p. 44 - 45; Tr. p.28:7-p.29:4.]

The Deputy testified that the basis for Wells arrest was not just the field sobriety tests, but the totality of Wells' conduct during the stop:

Q: Okay, and were the field sobriety tests the sole basis for why you arrested Mr. Wells that night?

A: No, sir. The reason Mr. Wells was arrested was the totality of everything from the driving that I has seen prior to stopping him. Upon the approach in my—the *appearance* of Mr. Wells during—while talking to him. The fact that he had a strong order of alcoholic beverage coming from the vehicle at the time of talking with him, he admitted that he had been drinking that night.

[R.p. 91-92; Tr. p. 75:20-p.76:8 emphasis added.]

The Deputy's admission that his arrest of Wells was based on "the totality of everything" and upon his approach and observation of Wells further supports the argument that the failure to record Wells exiting his vehicle and walking to the paved portion of the highway is in violation of §56-5-2953.

### **Summary of Argument**

S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-2953 requires that in DUI cases, the arresting officer must video record the driver's conduct at the incident site and mandates that the recording begin no later than the activation of the officer's blue lights, and it must include any field sobriety tests administered; and the arrest and Mirandizing. The charge is subject to dismissal if there is a violation of this statutory requirement, unless the lack of video falls into one of the enumerated exceptions.

None of the exceptions apply. The recording equipment was working properly and there was no medical emergency or any other exigent circumstances to excuse the failure to visually record the Driver's conduct during the entire stop. It was the conscious, purposeful conduct of the Deputy – without any legitimate reason -- to move his patrol vehicle and thus fail to record 4.5 minutes of an important part of the second

phase of the Deputy's investigatory stop – 4.5 minutes of potentially exculpatory evidence.

Despite the undisputed evidence that the Deputy consciously/purposefully failed to video record all of Wells' conduct during the stop and arrest, the Magistrate refused to grant a dismissal based on the reasoning that the statute only requires recording of the driver's conduct while performing the field sobriety tests and while being arrested and advised of his Miranda rights. Wells maintains that the Magistrate's interpretation of §56-5-2953(A) was in error, particularly in view of the clear language of the statute, the legislative purpose and the testimony of the arresting officer.

The statute mandates that a person charged with DUI "must have his conduct at the incident site ... video recorded." The legislative purpose of this statute is to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest, not just evidence of intoxication, but also any exculpatory evidence of sobriety. The arresting officer testified that he is trained to consider the driver's conduct in three stages, including the second stage that includes the face-to-face communication when the officer first approaches the driver at the vehicle and the driver's conduct while exiting the vehicle. There are important cues of sobriety he trained to consider. Yet, the Deputy consciously moved his patrol vehicle and thereby failed to record an important, necessary part of the Driver's conduct – conduct that was potentially exculpatory. Given the undisputed, inexcusable failure to video record Wells' conduct during this second stage of the DUI investigatory stop, the DUI charge should be dismissed.

## ARGUMENT

### *Standard of Review*

The scope of review on appeal is limited to correcting errors of law:

In criminal appeals from municipal court, the circuit court does not conduct a de novo review. S.C.Code Ann. § 14-25-105 (Supp.2006); *State v. Landis*, 362 S.C. 97, 606 S.E.2d 503 (Ct.App.2004). In criminal cases, the appellate court reviews errors of law only. *State v. Cutter*, 261 S.C. 140, 199 S.E.2d 61 (1973). Therefore, our scope of review is limited to correcting the circuit court's order for errors of law.”

City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 15, 646 S.E.2d 879, 880 (2007). *See also* State v. Henderson, 347 S.C. 455, 457, 556 S.E.2d 691, 692 (Ct. App. 2001); S.C. Code Ann. § 18-3-70. The circuit court is bound by the magistrate court's findings of fact if any evidence in the record reasonably supports them. City of Greer v. Humble, 402 S.C. 609, 613, 742 S.E.2d 15, 17 (Ct. App. 2013).

In this case, the facts are largely undisputed, and the core question is one of law. The single factual issue concerns the lack of any substantial evidence to support the Magistrate's apparent factual finding that the only thing not captured on the video recording was the Driver sitting in his car, when the Deputy testified that during the 4.5 minutes, he directed Wells to exit his truck and walk to the roadway in front of the patrol vehicle where he then conducted and recorded the field sobriety tests.

The circuit court affirmed the magistrate judge's decision to deny defendant's motion to dismiss the charge based upon the state's failure to comply with Section 56-5-2953. The circuit court's determination was based upon the same reasoning of the magistrate judge. The circuit court found that "[T]he statute is very specific as to when the driver-suspect's conduct must be performed, that is "not began later than the activation of the officer's blue lights; include any field sobriety test administered; and

include the arrest of a person for a violation Section 56-5-2930 or 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and to show the person being advised of his Miranda rights." [R.p. 6; Order of the Circuit Court, September 11, 2014.] The circuit court held that "The appellant's conduct was recorded at all times required by Section 56-5-2953. The appellant was not recorded while he was in his vehicle and as he exited his vehicle to walk to the field sobriety test site." The circuit court found that Wells' case was distinguishable from previous cases involving the officer's failure to record part of a sobriety test or administering the breath test. [R.p. 6; Order of the Circuit Court, September 11, 2014.] The circuit court erred when it determined that the only conduct to be recorded as required by Section 56-5-2953 was the sobriety test, the arrest and the advice of the Miranda warnings. This is a clear error.

The ultimate legal issue is whether the charge should be dismissed because the Deputy did not visually record the Driver's conduct for those 4.5 minutes. The related questions of law are whether the statute can be interpreted as only requiring the video recording of field sobriety tests, the arrest, and the administration of Miranda rights. And, more specifically in this case, whether the statute requires the recording of the driver's conduct during one of the three phases of the investigation which the arresting officer testified he is required by his training to observe and consider. A separate but related issue is whether dismissal is warranted based on the Deputy conscious actions in moving his patrol vehicle so that those 4.5 minutes – of potentially exculpatory evidence – were not recorded.

Based on the clear mandatory language of the statute, the Legislative intent, and the Deputy's testimony that the basis of the arrest was the totality of all the Driver's

conduct, and the purposeful conduct of the Deputy in moving his patrol vehicle, the failure to video record Wells' conduct in those 4.5 minutes warrants dismissal.

**I. THE MAGISTRATE JUDGE AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE CHARGE WHERE THE ARRESTING OFFICER FAILED TO VIDEO RECORD THE DEFENDANT DRIVER'S CONDUCT AT THE INCIDENT SITE AS REQUIRED BY S.C. CODE §56-5-2953.**

S.C. Code Ann. §56-5-2953 requires that in DUI cases, the arresting officer must video record the driver's conduct at the incident site:

(A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.

(1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:

(i) not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights;

(ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and

(iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

The charges may be dismissed if there is a violation of this statutory requirement, unless the lack of video falls into one of the enumerated exceptions:

Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, or video equipment at the breath test facility was in an inoperable condition, stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B); *See also* City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 17, 646 S.E.2d 879, 881 (2007) (holding dismissal of DUI charge is an appropriate remedy if the officer fails to produce a satisfactory video recording unless an exception applies).

**A. The Magistrate erred in finding that Section 56-5-2953 only requires the recording of the driver's conduct during the field sobriety tests, the arrest and Miranda warnings.**

**1. *Statutory Construction -- The legislative purpose is to create direct evidence of a DUI arrest.***

The well-settled rules on statutory construction are set forth in the Supreme Court's decision in Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 342-43, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011):

"The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature." *Bryant v. State*, 384 S.C. 525, 529, 683 S.E.2d 280, 282 (2009). When a statute is penal in nature, it must be strictly construed against the State and in favor of the defendant. *State v. Blackmon*, 304 S.C. 270, 273, 403 S.E.2d 660, 662 (1991). However, "[a]ll rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute." *State v. Sweat*, 386 S.C. 339, 351, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010) (citation omitted).

In ascertaining legislative intent, "a court should not focus on any single section or provision but should consider the language of the statute as a whole." *Mid-State Auto Auction of Lexington, Inc. v. Altman*, 324 S.C. 65, 69, 476 S.E.2d 690, 692 (1996). Where the statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear, definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning. *Gay v. Ariail*, 381 S.C. 341, 345, 673 S.E.2d 418, 420 (2009).

If the statute is ambiguous, however, courts must construe the terms of the statute. *Lester v. S.C. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*, 334 S.C. 557, 561, 514 S.E.2d 751, 752 (1999). "A statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers." *Sloan v. S.C. Bd. of Physical Therapy*

*Exam'rs*, 370 S.C. 452, 468, 636 S.E.2d 598, 606–07 (2006). In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose. *Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman*, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992).

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