STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Mandrile H. Young, Magistrate Court Judge
Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2014-002312

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Richard Wells,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Mandrile H. Young, Magistrate Court Judge

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

The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain meaning of the statute and the intent of the legislature. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008). A statute's language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Id. at 33, 667 S.E.2d at 733. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself. Id. "Where the statute's language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Pittman, 373 S.C. at 561, 647 S.E.2d at 161. However, the statute must also be read as a whole and in harmony

with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010). Accordingly, “[a] statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.” Browning v. Hartvigsen, 307 S.C. 122, 125, 414 S.E.2d 115, 117 (1992).

Section 56-5-2953 requires:

- (A) A person who violates Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 must have his conduct at the incident site and the breath test site video recorded.
- (1)(a) The video recording at the incident site must:
 - (i) not begin later than the activation of the officer’s blue lights;
 - (ii) include any field sobriety tests administered; and
 - (iii) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights.

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953 (A) (Supp. 2010).

The statute requires a video recording of the incident site, and in doing so, specifically provides what must be videotaped. It indicates the individuals conduct at the incident site must be recorded and then provides the requirements for meeting this requirement. Specifically the recording must: 1) not begin later than the activation of the officer’s blue lights; 2) include any field sobriety tests administered; and 3) include the arrest of a person for a violation of Section 56-5-2930 or Section 56-5-2933, or a probable cause determination in that the person violated Section 56-5-2945, and show the person being advised of his Miranda rights. The clear language of the statute does not require the individual to be on camera the entire time.

This case is nearly identical to the recent case decided by this Court in State v. Taylor, 411 S.C. 294, 768 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2014). In Taylor, the officer had to

reposition his vehicle to be able to best administer the field sobriety tests. As he moved the vehicle, as in this case, Taylor was not on camera. The magistrate court dismissed the charges finding the video failed to comply with the statute. The Court of Appeals, however, found the plain language of the statute did not require the defendant to remain on the camera at all times. The Court discussed the impact of several recent cases, including: City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007); State v. Gordon, 408 S.C. 536, 759 S.E.2d 755 (Ct. App. 2014); and Murphy v. State, 392 S.C. 626, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011). Specifically, the Court held: “Suchenski, Murphy, and Gordon demonstrate the plain language of the statute does not require the video to encompass every action of the defendant, but requires video of each event listed in the statute.” Taylor, 411 S.C. at 305, 768 S.E.2d at 77. Ultimately, the Court concluded:

The plain language of the statute demonstrates the legislature intended video recording of the majority of an officer's encounter with a potential DUI suspect. Nonetheless, interpreting the statute to require dismissal of the charges when the defendant is off camera for a short period of time and the gap does not occur during any of those events that either create direct evidence of a DUI or serve important rights of the defendant would result in an absurdity that could not possibly have been intended by the legislature. Indeed, interpreting the statute in that way would require dismissal of a DUI charge when a suspect stumbles out of view of the camera or when the officer is placing a suspect into his vehicle. Accordingly, section 56-5-2953 does not require dismissal of a DUI charge when the video recording of the incident briefly omits the suspect but that omission does not occur during any of those events that either create direct evidence of a DUI or serve important rights of the defendant.

Id. at 306, 768 S.E.2d at 77.

As in Taylor, nothing required to be captured on video in the current case occurred during the time Appellant was off camera. All field sobriety tests are performed

on camera, as was the reading of his Miranda rights and his arrest. Requiring video of him getting out of the car and walking to the flat level ground in this case would be tantamount to requiring the video to follow his every move; a finding clearly not required under the statute and not required by the Court in Taylor.

Further, to the extent Appellant claims evidence could be created during the time he is getting out of the car, the same argument would apply to when the person is able to stand still waiting on the officer to reposition his vehicle as in Taylor or when the person wandered off camera during the middle of a field sobriety test. Requiring the video recording to follow the person's every move is physically and technologically impossible and, as found in Taylor, leads to an absurd result.

The facts of the instant case are also similar to those in Murphy v. State, 392 S.C. 626, 709 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 2011). In Murphy, the defendant asserted a DUI case should have been dismissed by the magistrate because the video recording failed to capture a full view of Murphy at all times during the field sobriety tests. Id. at 631, 709 S.E.2d at 688. This Court found:

[N]othing in the plain language of the statute indicates that an accused remain in full view of the camera for the duration of the encounter. Rather, the statute only requires her "conduct" be recorded. Conduct is generally defined as one's behavior, action, or demeanor. Failure of the video to maintain a full view of the accused for the duration of a field sobriety test in which she is made to walk a line, for instance, does not fail to display her behavior, demeanor, and general state. Thus, an accused need not remain in full view of the camera at all times in order for the recording to capture her conduct.

....

While certainly an individual's performance on such tests would be part and parcel of his or her "conduct" at the

incident site, as mentioned, an unbroken recording of the tests is not necessary to capture conduct. Therefore, the recording need not display all field sobriety tests provided it captures the accused's conduct.

Id. at 631-632, 709 S.E.2d at 688 (emphasis added and citations omitted).

As in Murphy, an unbroken recording is not necessary to show Appellant's conduct. The video recording in the instant case turns on prior to the officer's activation of his blue lights and clearly shows the officer stopping Appellant. It is only when the officer is preparing to administer the field sobriety test and moves his vehicle to better display the test that Appellant is removed from the camera's field of view. The camera records from blue light activation until after arrest and Appellant's conduct is recorded throughout even if he is not within the field of view at all times; however, he is entirely within the field of view during those time specifically enumerated in section 56-5-2953(A) to be recorded.

This case is distinguishable from the cases of City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007) or State v. Johnson, 396 S.C. 182, 720 S.E.2d 516 (Ct. App. 2011). In both of those cases, a significant and specifically required portion of the videotape was not produced and an affidavit was not provided. In Suchenski, the officer failed to record all of the field sobriety tests administered and the arrest of the individual as specifically required under section 56-5-2953(A). Suchenski, 374 S.C. at 18, 646 S.E.2d at 881-882. In Johnson, the officer failed to record the administration of the breath test as specifically required. Johnson, 396 S.C. at 190-191, 720 S.E.2d at 520-521.

In the instant case, however, all the specifically required portions of the incident site were recorded. The recording began before the officer activated his blue lights, and

ended after Appellant was arrested. As a result, the State produced a videotape meeting the requirements of section 56-5-2953(A).

Also, any defects in the videotape go to its weight rather than admissibility. See State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 636 S.E.2d 150, 153 (Ct. App. 2007) (Stilwell, J., concurring opinion) (lack of audio on surveillance videotape of drug sting went to the weight of the evidence, not its admissibility); see also, State v. Salisbury, 330 S.C. 250, 498 S.E.2d 655, 665 (Ct. App. 1998) (conflict in testimony regarding condition of Breathalyzer machine went to weight of the test results rather than admissibility of the evidence), *aff'd as modified*, 343 S.C. 520, 541 S.E.2d 247 (2001). Defects in evidence or procedure generally do not affect admissibility. See, e.g., State v. Odom, 382 S.C. 144, 676 S.E.2d 124 (2009) (citing State v. Huntley, 349 S.C. 1, 562 S.E.2d 472 (2002)).

Additionally, “[t]he legislature is presumed to intend that its statutes accomplish something.” State v. Long, 363 S.C. 360, 364, 610 S.E.2d 809, 811 (2005). Here, the primary intention behind section 56-5-2953 was to reduce the number of DUI trials heard as swearing contests by mandating the State videotape important events in the process of collecting DUI evidence. State v. Elwell, 396 S.C. 330, 336, 721 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2011). “The statute must be interpreted with realistic circumstances and rationales in mind.” Elwell, 396 S.C. at 336, 721 S.E.2d at 454; State v. Baker, 310 S.C. 510, 512, 427 S.E.2d 670, 672 (1993) (“A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.”). Courts will reject an interpretation of a statute leading to an absurd result clearly unintended by the legislature. See Unisun Ins. Co. v. Schmidt, 339 S.C. 362, 368, 529 S.E.2d 280, 283 (2000); Ray Bell Constr. Co. v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville County, 331

S.C. 19, 26, 501 S.E.2d 725, 729 (1998) (“However plain the ordinary meaning of the words used in the statute may be, the courts will reject that meaning when to accept it would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature. . . .”).

In the instant case, Appellant’s interpretation of the statutory requirements leads to an absurd result. Clearly, the legislature did not intend for someone to avoid responsibility for driving under the influence of alcohol because they are not within the field of view of the officer’s camera at all times. This case is no different than if the suspected drunk driver were to wander out of the field of view while he is performing the heel to toe step test or some other test. The legislature’s intent cannot be a drunk driver gets a pass because the Officer made certain to have his car in a position to best record the incident site field sobriety tests (an event specifically enumerated by the statute as required to be recorded) and in doing so the Appellant is out of the field of view for a short period of time.

The video recording complied with section 56-5-2953(A) by recording all the events of the incident site as required, and there is no requirement Appellant had to remain within the full view of the camera in order to have his conduct recorded. Accordingly, the magistrate court and circuit court correctly refused to dismiss the case and found the video met the requirements of section 56-5-2953(A).

As an additional sustaining ground, the court properly declined to dismiss the charges based on the totality of the circumstances. In the event this Court finds a proper video was not produced, then the State submits the totality of the circumstances clearly favor not dismissing the case.

Section 56-5-2953(B) reads in pertinent part as follows:

Nothing in this section may be construed as prohibiting the introduction of other relevant evidence in the trial of a violation of Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945. Failure by the arresting officer to produce the video recording required by this section is not alone a ground for dismissal of any charge made pursuant to Section 56-5-2930, 56-5-2933, or 56-5-2945 if the arresting officer submits a sworn affidavit certifying that the video recording equipment at the time of the arrest or probable cause determination, or video equipment at the breath test facility was in an inoperable condition, stating which reasonable efforts have been made to maintain the equipment in an operable condition, and certifying that there was no other operable breath test facility available in the county or, in the alternative, submits a sworn affidavit certifying that it was physically impossible to produce the video recording because the person needed emergency medical treatment, or exigent circumstances existed. . . . Nothing in this section prohibits the court from considering any other valid reason for the failure to produce the video recording based upon the totality of the circumstances

S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953(B) (Supp. 2013) (emphasis added).

In the instant case, the officer's testimony clearly established the reason for moving his vehicle and having Appellant off camera for a short period of time. The officer was in a "catch-22" situation of either moving his vehicle to allow Appellant to properly perform the field sobriety tests or attempt to administer them on a gravel uneven lot to the distinct disadvantage of the defendant. All portions of the video required by statute are recorded and were provided and the officer never testified there was any sign of impairment during the time Appellant exited his vehicle and walked to the roadway to perform the field sobriety tests. As a result, the totality of the circumstances clearly support the magistrate court's decision to deny the motion to dismiss.

II. The magistrate did not err in failing to dismiss the case because there was no violation of Appellant's due process rights and, further, this issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal to this Court.

Appellant maintains the magistrate court erred in failing to dismiss the case because the failure to record the time Appellant exited his vehicle violated his due process rights. The State has not violated Appellant's due process rights and certainly has not acted in bad faith. Further, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal to this Court because the issue was not ruled on by the circuit court on appeal.

Preservation

Appellant contends the trial court erred in failing to find the State's failure to record his exit from his vehicle violates his due process rights. This issue was never ruled on by the circuit court judge sitting in appeal from the magistrate's court ruling. (Order of Circuit Court dated Sept 11, 2014). Appellant failed to file a motion to reconsider or to alter or amend the Order, and, as a result, the issue is not properly before this Court. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has stated:

“[A]ll this Court has ever required is that the questions presented for its decision must first have been fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court.” An argument that is not raised to an intermediate appellate court is not preserved for review by this Court.

State v. Oxner, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (2011)(internal citations omitted); see also, Graniteville Mfg. Co. v. Renew, 113 S.C. 171, 176, 102 S.E. 18, 19 (1920) (holding an issue not raised before the circuit court on appeal from a magistrate is not properly before the appellate court); City of Columbia v. Ervin, 330 S.C. 516, 519–20, 500 S.E. 2d 483, 485 (1998) (holding an issue not raised in an intermediate appeal cannot be considered in a subsequent appeal to the court of appeals or supreme court); Kleckley

v. Nw. Nat'l Cas. Co., 338 S.C. 131, 138, 526 S.E.2d 218, 221 (2000) (noting an issue must be raised to and ruled upon by both the trial court and an intermediate appellate court to be properly preserved for review).

Merits

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